
AO 9 I (Rev. 11/1 1) Criminal Complaint 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
for the 

Middle District of Florida 

United States of A merica 
V. 

Fan Yang; 
Yang Yang a/k/a Yang Chen a/k/a "Yuki"; and 

Ge Songtoa a/k/a Ge Song Tao a/ka "Sherman" 

Defendam(s) 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 

1, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my know ledge and belief. 

On or about the date(s) of offenses set forth below in the county of Duval 

Middle District of Florida , the defendant(s) violated: 

Offense Description 

in the 

Code Section 

18 U.S.C. § 371 

18 U.S.C. § 922(a)(6) 
(as to Fan Yang only) 

-conspiracy to violate federal law, specifically prohibitions on firearm 
possession by an alien admitted under a non immigrant visa and transfer of a 
firearm to a nonresident, between in or about March 2017 and Sept. 2019; 
-making a fa lse and fictitious written statement intended and likely to deceive 
a firearms dealer with respect to a fact material as to the lawfulness of the 
sale of a firearm, on or about April 30, 2017; 

18 U.S.C. § 1001(a) 
(as to Fan Yang only) 

-making materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statements within the 
executive branch's jurisdiction, on or about Jan. 7, 2019. 

This criminal complaint is based on these facts: 

See attached affidavit. 

~ Continued on the attached sheet. 

Complaina/1/ ·s signa//ire 

Blake Eber, Special Agent, FBI 

Primed name and 1it/e 

Sworn to before me and signed in my presence. 

D ate: 4~ - ---~ -e-------

City and state: Jacksonville , Florida Patricia D. Barksdale , U.S. Magistrate Judge 
Primed name and 1ir/e 
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AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 

I, Blake Eber, being first duly sworn, hereby depose and state as follows: 

INTRODUCTION AND AGENT BACKGROUND 

I. I am a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation ("FBI"), 

United States Department of Justice, acting in my official capacity. As such, I am an 

investigative or law enforcement officer of the United States within the meaning of 

Section 2510(7) of Title 18, United States Code, and am empowered by law to 

conduct investigations of and to make arrest for offenses enumerated in Section 2516 

of Title 18, United States Code. I have been employed as a Special Agent with the 

FBI since January 2018, and am currently assigned to the Jacksonville Field Office's 

Counterintelligence Squad, where I investigate, inter alia, offenses involving 

espionage and the unlawful retention or disclosure of classified information. 

2. I have attended and received training in the areas of national security-

related criminal offenses, including espionage and the mishandling of classified 

information, as well as the preparation of criminal complaints. I have also 

participated in the investigation of national security offenses. Finally, I have had 

numerous communications with federal law enforcement and Department of Justice 

personnel specializing in national security investigations and prosecutions. 

3. I am the case agent assigned to an FBI-Naval Criminal Investigative 

Service ("NCIS") investigation ofFAN YANG ("FAN"); his wife, YANG YANG, 
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also known as ("a/k/a") Yang Chen, a/k/a Yuki ("YANG"); and GE SONGTAO, 

a/k/a Sherman ("GE"). As discussed in greater detail below, FAN currently holds a 

Top Secret U.S. security clearance and is actively serving in the United States Navy, 

working in a sensitive anti-submarine warfare unit. He has made material 

misrepresentations to hide his and YAN G 's relationship with GE, who is a Chinese 

national. FAN and YANG have also worked together to assist GE in unlawfully 

possessing firearms. 

PURPOSE OF AFFIDAVIT 

4. This affidavit is in support of a criminal complaint alleging there is 

probable cause to believe that FAN, YANG, and GE violated 18 U.S.C. § 371 

(conspiracy to violate U.S. law, in this case, 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(5), prohibiting 

possession of a firearm by a nonresident alien and 18 U.S.C. § 922(a)(5), 

prohibiting transfer of a firearm by a resident of a state to a nonresident); 18 U.S.C. § 

922(a)(6) (making a false statement to a federally licensed firearms dealer); and 18 

U.S.C. § 1001 (making false statements, here, during a security clearance background 

investigation). 

5. Unless noted otherwise, the information presented in this affidavit was 

gathered during the course of an investigation conducted by me and Special Agents 

of the FBI and NCIS, including but not limited to, personal interviews; physical 

surveillance; and the review of government, corporate, financial, and other records. 

I am not including in this affidavit all facts known to me, but rather only those I 
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believe are necessary to establish probable cause sufficient to support a criminal 

complaint. 

6. This affidavit contains information provided by three confidential 

sources, labeled respectively as COOPERATING SOURCE ("CS")# 1-3. 

PROBABLE CAUSE 

YANG YANG, a/k/a Yang Chen, a/k/a Yuki and BQ TREE LLC 

7. Based on a review of records from the State of Florida, I determined 

that BQ TREE LLC was incorporated by an individual known as Yang Chen on or 

about May 29, 2015. The corporation's principal/mailing/registered addresses were 

originally listed as 2208 Harbor Lake Drive, Fleming Island, Florida 32003, but were 

all changed effective January 2018, to 1172 Neff Circle, Jacksonville, Florida 32212. 

The name of the only enumerated member/registered agent/authorized person was 

changed from "YANG CHEN" to "YANG YANG" on or about January 2, 2019. 

8. According to public comt records, YANG CHEN married FAN 

YANG on or about January 4, 2013. Public court records also establish that YANG 

CHEN and YANG YANG are the same person. I am also aware from personal 

observation that the address 1172 Neff Circle, Jacksonville, Florida 32212 consists of 

a single family residence located on the U.S. Navy base known as Naval Air Station 

Jacksonville. Furthermore, I am aware from review of public records, a series of 

interviews, and personal observation, that YANG YANG and FAN YANG both 

lived full-time at 1172 Neff Circle, Jacksonville, Florida 32212 ("former residence") 
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until July 18, 2019. I am aware from review of public records and physical 

surveillance conducted by other FBI Special Agents that YANG YANG and FAN 

YANG currently live full-time at  

 

9. Pursuant to a court-authorized search , I have previously reviewed 

photographs taken by FBI agents inside the former residence in January 2019. I 

observed in one of those photographs a business card located inside the former 

residence. That business card listed YANG as the "Chief Consultant" for BQ TREE 

LLC. I observed in another photograph a second business card located inside the 

former residence. That second business card listed FAN as a "Consultant" for BQ 

TREE LLC. The business cards each contain email addresses for YANG and FAN. 

10. An FBI Forensic Accountant and I have reviewed financial records 

obtained by the FBI from Navy Federal Credit Union and from Federal Reserve 

Bank of New York pertaining to BQ TREE LLC. Those records revealed that from 

November 2016 through August 2019, BQ TREE, LLC and/or YANG YANG 

received approximately $205,270 in direct wire transfers from a corporate entity 

known as Shanghai Breeze Technology Co. ("Shanghai Breeze") and a known 

associate of GE ("GE's Associate"). According to COOPERATING SOURCE #1 

("CS-1 "), GE's Associate is an employee of GE. (CS-1 is discussed in greater detail 

below.) The money transfers from Shanghai Breeze to BQ TREE LLC were 

generally large. For example, on or about March 20, 2017, BQ TREE LLC received 

a $40,000 wire transfer from Shanghai Breeze. According to an FBI forensic 
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accountant who has analyzed the bank records referenced above, transfers from 

Shanghai Breeze accounts are the largest source of revenue for BQ TREE LLC. 

Further, BQ TREE LLC's account application with Navy Federal Credit Union 

describes its business as an online office products and cellphone accessories 

retailer/wholesaler, and yet BQ TREE LLC's account statements lack banking 

activity that one would expect for such as business - like regular deposits of sales

generated income, the purchase of a high volume of office equipment or cellphone 

accessories as inventory, or payments for shipping of products to customers. 

I 1. In September 2018, I interviewed CS-I, who formerly served in the U.S. 

Navy. CS-I has no criminal record. CS-I advised me, interalia, that CS-I was a 

paid consultant for Shanghai Breeze. CS-I further advised that GE's Associate told 

CS-I that YANG conducted "logistics" for Shanghai Breeze inside the U.S. CS-I 

also informed me that he/she was familiar with GE, who he/she also knew by the 

name "Sherman." 

GE SONGTAO, a/k/a Sherman and Shanghai Breeze Technology Co. 

12. According to GE's U.S. State Department Visa application, which I 

have reviewed, GE stated he is 49 years old; a citizen and resident of the People's 

Republic of China; and the Chairman of Shanghai Breeze Technology Co. Ltd, 

located at 968-6-1008 Jinzhong Rd., Changning District, Shanghai, China. GE was 

issued a Bl / B2 U.S. visa on September 26, 2016. A Bl/B2 visa permits temporary 

entry into the United States for business and tourism purposes. His visa expires on 

September 22, 2026. According to U.S. Customs and Border Protection ("CBP") 
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records, which I have reviewed, GE has travelled to the U.S. on multiple occasions 

dating back to November 2013 and as recently as July 2018. 

13. During our September 2018 interview, CS-1 also told me that, while on 

numerous trips to the United States in the past, GE has invested time and money in 

obtaining tactical weapons training by hiring U.S.-based firearms and tactical 

instructors with prior military experience, including some with specialized tactical 

training from their respective experiences serving as Special Forces operators within 

the U.S. military. 

14. On October 9, 2019 COOPERATING SOURCE# 2 ("CS-2") told an 

FBI Special Agent that he/she provided GE with both pistol and rifle firearms 

training during the week of May 26, 2017 to June 1, 2017, at a public gun range in 

Virginia Beach, Virginia and on a private range in N01th Carolina. I have reviewed 

reports concerning GE's interactions with CS-2. According to those reports, during 

training, GE asked CS-2 for, among other things, an electronic copy of the 

unclassified U.S. Navy document entitled "OPNAV 3591 Small Arms Training and 

Qualification Instruction" that CS-2 used to structure the firearms training for GE. 

Further, according to CS-2, during the same week that GE received firearms training 

in Virginia and North Carolina, GE asked CS-2 to purchase a Sig Sauer P226 pistol 

and a Sig Sauer AR-15-style rifle. GE gave CS-2 $3,500 to pay for the firearms. GE 

then told CS-2 to retain the purchased firearms until GE returned to the U.S. in 

September 2017. According to CS-2, after initially accepting the money, CS-2 

ultimately did not purchase the firearms for GE, and subsequently returned the 
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money to a mutual acquaintance who according to CS-2 was supposed to return the 

money to GE on or about June I, 2017. 

FANYANG 

15. I have reviewed FAN's naval service records and certain Office of 

Personnel Management records. According to these documents, FAN was born in 

the People's Republic of China in 1985, entered in the United States in 1999, and 

became a U.S. citizen in 2006. FAN is currently an active duty Naval Officer 

currently assigned to Maritime Patrol Reconnaissance Weapons School at Naval Air 

Station Jacksonville, in Jacksonville, Florida. FAN enlisted in the U.S. Navy in 

2005, but was subsequently discharged in 2007. After attending college and 

obtaining a bachelor's degree in electrical engineering, FAN then re-enlisted into the 

Navy in July 2012 to attend Officer Candidate School. After FAN received his 

commission as an officer, he attended flight school and was subsequently transferred 

in November 2014 to Naval Air Station Jacksonville, where he is still stationed to 

this day. He currently holds the rank of Lieutenant. The same records show that 

FAN cmTently holds a Top Secret security clearance, which he first obtained in 2012. 

16. In October 2018, I interviewed COOPERATING SOURCE# 3 

(hereafter "CS-3"), who is a U.S. Naval Officer who has worked with FAN. CS-3 

informed me, interalia, that he/she was aware that FAN was trained as a Naval 

Flight Officer responsible for weapons and tactics aboard the P-8 anti-submarine 

warfare aircraft. 
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17. According to CS-3, FAN submitted to his Navy supervisors a 

NAVPERS 1336/3 (Rev.02-201 1) Special Request/ Authorization Form, dated July 

9, 2018, which I have reviewed. According to CS-3, the form is used by Navy 

personnel to request time off from work (or "liberty"), and FAN's form requested 

time off from work from July 12 to July 16, 2018 for the stated purpose of FAN 

taking his family to "Disney" for the weekend. I have reviewed U.S. airline records 

that establish that FAN and YANG flew from Jacksonville, Florida to Sioux City, 

Iowa on July 13, 2018, then made the return trip on July 15, 2018. Those tickets 

were purchased on July 9, 2018, the same day that FAN requested time off, 

purportedly to travel to "Disney." Credit card records from two U.S. banks and a 

credit card company, which I reviewed, show a card attributed to YANG was used 

to purchase a meal in South Sioux City, Nebraska on July 14, 2018, and that FAN's 

credit card was used to rent a car in Sioux City, Iowa on July 15, 2018. Credit card 

records also show that YANG purchased a one-way airline ticket for GE departing 

on July 16, 2018, from Omaha Epply Airfield in Nebraska. That airport is 

approximately 100 miles from South Sioux City, Nebraska, where YANG purchased 

a meal. 

18. In October 2018, I interviewed CS-3, who stated that by U.S. Navy 

instruction, Naval personnel taking liberty outside the local area (defined as 400-mile 

radius) requires commanding officer notification. CS-3 told me that FAN did not 

report his travel to Iowa to his commanding officer. 
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Electronic Questionnaires for Investigations Processing (e-QIP) 

19. I have reviewed an Electronic Questionnaires for Investigations 

Processing (e-QIP), which is the official U.S. government questionnaire for national 

security positions, that FAN submitted on or about January 7, 2019, in support of 

the renewal of his Top Secret clearance. The contents ofFAN's e-QIP form are 

described below. 

20. Under the section "Penalties for Inaccurate or False Statements," thee-

QIP form states the following: 

The U .S. Criminal Code (title 18, section 1001) provides that knowingly 
falsifying or concealing a material fact is a felony which may result in 
fines and/ or up to five (5) years imprisonment. In addition, Federal 
agencies generally fire , do not grant security clearance, or disqualify 
individuals who have materially and deliberately falsified these form, 
and this remains a part of the permanent record for future placements. 
Your prospects of placement or security clearance are better if you 
answer all questions truthfully and completely. You will have adequate 
opportunity to explain any information you provide on this form and to 
make your comments pa1t of the record. 

21. Under "Statement of Understanding" the e-QIP form states: 

I have read the instructions and I understand that if I withhold, 
misrepresent, or falsify information on this form, I am subject to the 
penalties for inaccurate or false statement (per U.S. Criminal Code, 
Title 18, section 1001), denial or revocation of a security clearance, 
and/ or removal and debarment from Federal Service. 

FAN answered "Yes" following the aforementioned statement. 

22. In e-QIP Section 19 - Foreign Contacts, the first question reads: 

Do you have, or have you had, close and/or continuing contact with a 
foreign national within the last seven (7) years with whom you, or your 
spouse, or legally recognized civil union/domestic partner, or 
cohabitant are bound by affection, influence, common interest, and/ or 
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obligation? Include associates as well as relatives, not previously listed 
in Section 18. 

FAN answered "No" to this question. 

23. Pursuant to a court-authorized search and surveillance, I have reviewed 

approximately 400 emails between GE and YANG sent between November 2016 

and September 2019; these include emails sent to and from the email address listed 

on YANG's business card described above. Among the emails that I reviewed was 

an email YANG sent to GE in November 2016 to which YANG attached a Chinese-

language signed employment contract with Shanghai Breeze Technology Co. LTD. 

The contract appears to have been signed by GE on behalf of his company and then 

countersigned by YANG on November 10, 2016. According to FBI linguists who 

have reviewed the contract, during a one to three month probationary period, the 

company agreed to pay YANG a monthly salary of$3,000, which would then 

increase to $5,000 per month, paid in two distributions per month. The FBI linguists 

also noted the contract specifically described YAN G's duties as "Party B [YANG] 

must handle business operations, conduct business negotiations, collaborate with 

other factories, declare products at customs, and conduct other similar business for 

Shanghai Breeze Technology Co., Ltd. in the United States." 

24. In January 2019, during a court-authorized search, FBI personnel 

collected an Audio/Video file from the dash cameras of a vehicle registered to FAN. 

This file revealed a January 18, 2019 Chinese language conversation between FAN 

and YANG. I have spoken with FBI Chinese linguists who have reviewed the 
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Audio/Video file. They related that during that conversation, the couple discuss 

"Brother Tao," which I believe is a nickname for GE Songtao. 

25. In e-QIP Section 20A- Foreign Activities, Subsection Foreign 

Financial Interests Controlled on Your Behalf, the first question reads: "Have you, 

your spouse or legally recognized civil union/ domestic partner, cohabitant, or 

dependent children EVER had any foreign financial interests (such as ... bank 

accounts . .. ) in which you or they have direct control or direct ownership?" FAN 

answered "No" to this question. The second question in this section reads: "Have 

you, your spouse or legally recognized civil union/ domestic partner, cohabitant, or 

dependent children EVER had any foreign financial interests that someone 

controlled on your behalf?" FAN answered "No" to this question. 

26. FAN listed a personal email address on his e-QIP submission. Pursuant 

to a court-authorized search, I have reviewed a document attached to an email sent 

in February 2013 to FAN's personal email account as a "cc" (or carbon copy) 

addressee. That attached document gave H uang Hua power of attorney over F AN's 

BANK OF CHINA account. The power of attorney document was dated December 

14, 2012, and lists FAN's BANK OF CHINA account number. The email attaching 

the power of attorney contained the following language: 

From: The UPS Store 3517 <store35 l 7@theupsstore.com>; 

To: 1m~ <phenixyl@l63.com>; 

Subject: Re: notary certificate BANK OF CHINA IN BEIJING 
Sent: Sat, Feb 2, 2013 7:45:44 PM 
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This document was notarized at our store, The UPS Store 351 7 in 
Pensacola FL. 
Email us back with any further questions. 

----- Original Message -----

From: r».iffl 
To: store35l 7@theupsstore.com 
Sent: Friday, February 01, 2013 9:59 PM 
Subject: notary certificate BANK OF CHINA IN BEIJING 

This is BANK OF CHINA of Beijing. Now a customer named Hua 
Huang want to reset the password of the account of Fan Yang. But in 
CHINA, customer can reset the password of the account only by 
himself. So Yang Fan offer us the Notary Certificate for us to authorize 
Hua Huang to reset the password. So I would like to ask you to identify 
the notary certificate and whether the notary is from yours. 

THANK YOU VERY MUCH. 

----- Original Message -----

27. The above indicates that FAN had a foreign financial interest via a 

BANK OF CHINA account that someone controlled on his behalf and that FAN did 

not report these facts as required in his e-QIP form. 

28. In e-QIP Section 20B - Foreign Business, Professional Activities, and 

Foreign Government Contacts - the first question reads: "Have you in the last seven 

(7) years provided advice or support to any individual associated with a foreign 

business or other foreign organization that you have not previously listed as a former 

employer? (Answer 'No' if all your advice or support was authorized pursuant to 

official U.S. Government business.)" FAN answered "No" to this question and did 

not otherwise list any foreign businesses or other foreign organizations among his 
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former employers. A later question in this section reads: "Has any foreign national 

in the last seven (7) years offered you a job, asked you to work as a consultant, or 

consider employment with them?" FAN answered "Yes" to this question, but in 

response to the follow up question, "Did you accept the offer?" he answered, "No." 

Where the form directs, "Provide explanation," FAN stated that in late 2017, GE 

had offered FAN a position as a "Consultant/ U.S. representative for his Chinese 

business," which according to FAN, "import[s] speedboats from the U.S. for sale in 

China." FAN stated that he informed GE that he was still in the Navy and could 

not take on additional work. 

29. · Pursuant to a court-authorized search, I reviewed an email chain sent in 

April 2017. Using an email address listed on his BQ TREE LLC business card 

discussed above, FAN wrote a series of emails to the owner of a business in Orlando, 

Florida ("BUSINESS-I"). In this email chain, FAN stated he is part of a consulting 

firm that focuses on bridging Chinese and U.S. businesses. FAN went on to state 

that he has a client in China who wants to bring Chinese citizens to the U.S. for 

"firearm tourism." Specifically, the email contained the following language: 

----- Original Message ----
[F. G .], 

Could you describe what does the IPSC spmt shooting course includes? 

Thanks, 
Fan 

On Mon, Apr 24, 2017 at 9:38 PM, f G <[F.G.]@yahoo.com> wrote: 
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Hi Fan, 

Let me know the date you will be visiting our facility. I will be traveling 
to Europe to teach and shoot a match in May, if I am not available I 
will have one of my workers meet with you and show you the facility . 

Regards 
[F.G.] 

Sent from my iPhone 

On Apr 24, 2017, at 7: 14 PM, Fan Yang . .. wrote: 

[F .G], 

Thanks for the quick response. We still have other coordination we 
need to take care of, so if we get a group going, it'll most likely be Sept 
to Dec this year. Our client is visiting US mid to late May. Hopefully 
we can arrange a visit to your facility and discuss the options face to 
face. 

I cc'd Yuki on this email. She's going to handle the client's travel to the 
US and she will be tra veiling with the client. 

Thank you very much, 
Fan 

On Sun, Apr 23 , 2017 at 6: 12 PM, f G <[F.G.]@yahoo.com> wrote: 

Hello , 

Thank you for your interest in [BUSINESS-I] . 

We can organize IPSC sport shooting courses for you. Let us know the 
time line you would like and I can give you dates for the first group . 
Approximate cost would be $600 per person per day of training. This 
would include , equipment ,Ammunition and firearms . 

You would need to supply a minimum of 1 maybe 2 interpreters for 
translation . 
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Once you decide the dates let me know and we can start organizing . 
Hotels are a 45 minute drive from Orlando Intl airport and Hotels are 
20 minutes from the range facility . 

Looking forward to hearing from you . 

[F.G] 
Owner 
[BUSINESS- I] 

Sent from my iPhone 

On Apr 23, 2017, at 4:10 PM, Fan Yang ... wrote: 

From: Fan Yang ... 
Subject: Request info on customized course 
Message Body: 

Hello, 

We are a consulting firm that focuses on bridging Chinese business and 
US business together. We have a client in China that want to bring 
Chinese citizens to the US for "firearm tourism" . My understanding is 
that it's legal for foreign national to shoot firearm at a range as long as 
the owner, or a representative is present. If there's any concerns 
regarding that, we can look more into it. 

We are still in the planning stage, so I'm requesting 3 day, 5 day and 7 
day customized course for a group of 10-20 people. They will all be 
Chinese nationals with little to no experience in firearm, and we don't 
expect them to speak English very well either. We will provide the 
translators for the group, and you'll provide the necessary firearms and 
ammunition. If the first group goes well, we expect a new group every 
3-6 month initially. Obviously, if it gains popularity, we'll schedule 
groups more often. 

These tourists are not looking to be proficient in a specific firearm, but 
looking for more of a exposure of everything you can offer. Different 
firearms, different techniques, and lots of shooting should make them 
very happy. 

Thank you very much. Looking forward to working with you. 
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----- Original Message -----

30. The above email chain, coupled with the extensive transfers of cash 

from Shanghai Breeze to BQ TREE LLC, indicate that FAN provided support to 

individuals associated with foreign businesses and did not report this conduct as 

required. 

FAN and YANG Purchase of a Firearm for GE 

31. In response to a Grand Jury subpoena, a business in Phoenix, Arizona 

("BUSINESS-2"), provided documentation, which I have reviewed, showing that on 

or about March 30, 2017, FAN purchased a Sig Sauer MK25 P226 Pistol 9mm Serial 

Number 47Al92149 for $1 ,049. FAN requested the firearm be shipped to a business 

in Union, Michigan ("BUSINESS-3"). 

32. In response to a Grand Jury subpoena, BUSINESS-3 provided 

documentation, which I have reviewed, showing that on or about April 25, 2017, 

FAN paid BUSINESS-3 approximately $159 to engrave the initials "G.S.T." and the 

phrase "NEVER OUT OF THE FIGHT," into the Sig Sauer Pistol 9mm Serial 

Number 47Al92149. I believe that "G.S.T." are the initials of GE Songtao. 

According to documents provided by BUSINESS-3, FAN directed the company to 

send the firearm to a Federal Licensed Firearm (later identified as a firearms dealer 

in Orange Park, Florida ("BUSINESS-4")). 

33. I have reviewed a copy of a Firearms Transaction Record (also known 

as ATP-form 4473) obtained from BUSINESS-4. That form documents that 
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BUSINESS-4 transferred a Sig Sauer Model P226 9mm pistol, serial number 

478192149 to FAN on or about April 30, 2017. It appears there was a typographical 

error on the form, as I believe that the number "8" should have been an "A." The 

form states that "Section A [of the form] - Must Be Completed Personally By 

Transferee/Buyer." On the form, under Section A, FAN is identified as the 

transferee/buyer. Section A also contains, among other things, the following 

question (number 11.a): "Are you the actual transferee/buyer of the firearm(s) listed 

on this form?" Following this question, the form provides, in bold: "Warning: You 

are not the actual transferee/buyer if you are acquiring the firearm(s) on behalf of 

another person. If you are not the actual transferee/buyer, the licensee cannot 

transfer the firearm(s) to you." In response to the question above, FAN answered 

"Yes," indicating he was the actual transferee/buyer of the firearm. At the end of 

Section A, the form states, again in bold: "I certify that my answers in Section A 

are true, correct, and complete . ... I understand that answering 'yes' to question 

11.a if I am not the actual transferee/buyer is a crime punishable as a felony under 

Federal law . ... " Fan signed the form under the transferee's/buyer's signature 

block. 

34. Pursuant to a court-authorized search, I reviewed an email from YANG 

to GE, sent on June 28, 2017, less than a month after FAN obtained the firearm 

engraved with GE's initials. YANG sent the email from the email account listed on 

her BQ TREE LLC business card that is discussed above. YANG's email attached 
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what appears to be an expense report for BQ TREE LLC from March to June 2017. 

This attached expense report and others described below were in Chinese, but were 

translated by FBI linguists with whom I have conferred. This expense report 

contained an entry with the following information: Date"3/30"; Category 

"Personal" [understood to be referring to GE's personal expenses]; Description 

"Sig"; Notes "Sig 1049.99 engraving+ shipping 158.63 fee and background check 40 

(no receipt); Amount "$1,248.62"; Balance "$34,751.38." I am familiar with GE's 

email address based on my review of an email sent to YANG on April 14, 2017, in 

which the signature block listed GE Songtao of Shanghai Breeze Co. as the sender. 

35. Pursuant to a court-authorized search, I reviewed an email sent on 

January 3, 2018, which YANG sent to GE and GE'S Associate. This email attached 

a December 201 7 expense report that contained an entry with the following 

information: Date "12/16"_; Category "Personal" , Description "storage"; Notes 

"store the gun"; Amount "46.90"; Balance "$13,529.85." 

36. On September 24, 2019, I participated in a court-authorized search of 

storage unit Fl00 located at SecurCare Self Storage, Fleming Island, Florida 32256. 

During the comt-authorized search, I found a Sig Sauer MK25 P226 Pistol 9mm 

Serial Number 47A192149 with "G.S.T. " and the phrase "NEVER OUT OF THE 

FIGHT" engraved into the firearm. Additionally, the Sig Sauer was located within a 

black-colored gun range bag. Within the bag was a Sig Sauer plastic gun carrying 

case that had a label identifying a Sig Sauer MK25 P226 Pistol 9mm Serial Number 

47Al92149. 
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37. Pursuant to court-authorized surveillance, I reviewed an email sent on 

September 23, 2019, which YANG sent to GE and GE's Associate. This email 

again contained an expense report for April to September 2019. This expense report 

contained entries for "storage," this time under the category "company." Also 

attached to this email were four invoices for the use of Unit F084 SecurCare Self 

Storage, Fleming Island, Florida 32256 for April, May, June and July 2019. Yang 

Chen (that is, YANG) was listed as the customer in the invoices. Additionally, 

attached to this email were two invoices for the use of Unit F 100 SecurCare Self 

Storage, Fleming Island, Florida 32256 for August and September 2019. Yang Yang 

(that is, YANG) was listed as the customer in the invoices. 

38. In September 2018, CS-1 also told me that on or about May 24, 2017, 

he/she went to the shooting range "On Target Sports," in Orange Park, Florida with 

FAN and GE. (Before eventually stating that CS-1 went to the gun range with GE 

and FAN, he/she initially claimed to have had minimal interactions with FAN.) 

According to On Target Sports records, which I reviewed, GE, FAN, and CS-1 have 

accounts at that business, and on or about May 24, 2017, FAN and CS-1 made 

purchases. CS-1 stated the three individuals shot guns for approximately four hours 

while at the range. During a subsequent interview in April 2019, CS-1 told me that 

GE owned a SIG Sauer 226 MK 25, which he called "his baby." According to CS-1_, 

he/she went to gun ranges in the U.S., including On Target Sp01ts, approximately 

four or five times to shoot with GE. On those occasions, YANG would provide CS-

1 a black range bag with the SIG Sauer 226 MK 25 inside to give to GE at the gun 
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range. CS-I would then transport this firearm to the gun range. According to CS- I, 

YANG stated it would be illegal for GE to possess a firearm. 

CONCLUSION AND SEALING REQUEST 

39. Based on the foregoing, there is probable cause to believe that, 

beginning no later than March 20 I 7, and continuing through no earlier than 

September 2019, in the Middle District of Florida and elsewhere, in violation of 18 

U.S. C. § 3 71 , FAN, YANG, and GE conspired with each other, and committed the 

acts described in this affidavit, to try to accomplish a shared and unlawful plan to 

commit offenses against the United States, specifically, knowing possession of a 

firearm in or affecting interstate commerce by an alien admitted to the United States 

under a non-immigrant visa, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(5); and willful 

transfer, giving, and delivery of a firearm to an individual who does not reside in the 

same state as the transferor, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(a)(5). Further, based on 

the foregoing, there is probable cause to believe that on or about April 30, 2017, in 

the Middle District of Florida, in violation of 18 U.S .C. § 922(a)(6), FAN knowingly 

made a false and fictitious statement, material to the lawfulness of the disposition of 

a firearm, intended and likely to deceive a firearms dealer in connection with the 

acquisition of a firearm, asserting that he was the actual transferee/ buyer of a firearm 

when he knew then and there that this representation was false. Further, based on 

the foregoing, there is probable cause to believe that on or about January 7, 2019, in 

the Middle District of Florida, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001, FAN made and used 

a writing containing materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent representations when 

20 

Case 3:19-mj-01390-PDB   Document 1   Filed 10/11/19   Page 21 of 22 PageID 21



he submitted to the United States Government a written e-QIP form, in which he 

denied having and having had, close and/ or continuing contact with a foreign 

national within the last seven years with whom he or his spouse was bound by 

affection, influence, common interest, and/ or obligation; denied having had any 

foreign financial interests that someone controlled on his behalf; and denied in the 

last seven years, providing advice or support to any individual associated with a 

foreign business or other foreign organization, when he knew then and there that 

these representations were false. 

40. I ask that this affidavit be sealed, until further order of the court, to 

protect this investigation. I am aware from my training and experience that evidence 

is destroyed , individuals flee, and witnesses may be tampered with or become 

uncooperative when the details known to law enforcement become prematurely 

available to the targets of a criminal investigation. 

41. I declare under the penalty of perjury that the information provided 

above is true and correct. 

Sworn before me this i 11v\ of 
October, Jacksonville, Florida 

~ 
Patricia D. Barksdale 
U.S. Magistrate Judge 
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Blake Eber 
Special Agent 
Federal Bureau of Investigation 
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